2000

Ernestina Martin v. Safeway Stores Incorporated : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant received a disabling and grievous compound fracture of the left leg in a fall on ice concealed by a defective approach and by defective lighting at the store entrance at Midvale, Utah, and recovery is sought therefore.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN LOWER COURT

Honorable Hal G. Taylor granted motion for directed verdict.

REMEDY SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of order granting motion for directed verdict; an order granting a right to new trial, and a right to have said cause submitted to a jury.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is notice necessary when Safeway created the dangerous condition?
2. Is notice necessary When Safeway permitted faulty construction; permitted total deterioration of neon lights [Tr.-166] [TR-45] [TR-50], permitted flaking, chipping and dishing out of approach so that water would pool and ice would form on the store entrance; [TR-29] [TR-55]
3. Is notice necessary where manager and clerk, Hudson, had a duty to watch for dangerous conditions and walked by hazard several times but failed to discover it? [TR-185] [TR-168]
4. Is a defective entrance which allows water to collect and to form ice a transitory foreign object.
5. Was the ice area a dangerous and hazardous condition that existed over a long period of time, and a strong duty to keep the store entrance reasonably safe; sufficient to impute notice to the store owner? Should Safeway have known of the hazard and taken action to remedy it?
6. Is the meteorological weather report by the United States Weather Department at the Salt Lake City Airport admissible to show what the weather was at Midvale, Utah? Exhibit (4-P) [TR-143]

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 13, 1976, Ernestina Martin went to the Safeway Store at 723 Center Street, Midvale, Utah with her husband, Abe Martin, to purchase some groceries. They arrived at the store between 9:30 p.m. and 10:00 p.m. Abe Martin parked his car on the east side of the store approximately eighteen feet (18') to twenty feet (20') from the east wall of the store. Ernestina Martin left the automobile via the right passenger side. She took three or four steps on the parking lot, stepped up onto the approach and entrance to the store, proceeded east three to five steps, and slipped on a concealed area of ice. She fell to the ground and suffered a compound fracture of her left leg. Mrs. Martin screamed and her husband, Abe Martin, who was locking the car, rushed to her aid. It was not until after Ernestina Martin fell that she and her husband were able to ascertain that the ice patch on

which she fell existed; and this was only determined by feeling the ice with their hands. [TR-6]. The approach to the store was very dark by reason of the fact that Safeway had permitted their approach lights to become in complete disrepair and the entrance at the point where Mrs. Martin fell was completely and totally dark. [TR-45]. There was further concealment as well, since the ice had formed in a defective "dished" out portion of the approach; said defect existed over a long period of time. [TR-65 to 68]

Abe Martin placed Ernestina Martin in his automobile. He then ran into the store and reported the fall to Rueben C. Martinez, the Assistant Store Manager. After hearing Mr. Martin's report, Rueben Martinez obtained a flashlight and went directly to the iced area and carefully examined same. Abe Martin, Rueben C. Gomez, and Mrs. Jillen Gomez all agreed that the icy area where Mrs. Martin fell was not visible without the use of a flashlight. [TR-46]

The ice patch which caused the fall of Mrs. Martin was carefully examined by Abe Martin, Rueben Martinez and Jillen Gomez. Rueben Martinez decided not to salt this area and left it in its original state so that the defective area could be shown to the store manager, Neil Johnson, on the following morning. That morning, after Mr. Martinez showed store manager, Neil Johnson, the icy area on which Mrs. Martin fell, the area was salted. During the morning of January 14, 1975, Abe Martin went to the Midvale Camera Shop and employed Elden Halladay, a professional photographer; together they proceeded to the Safeway Store and photographed the area where Mrs. Martin fell. The photographs are in evidence as Exhibits 1 and 3.

The accident area where Mrs. Martin fell consists of flaked and chipped cement which has been "dished" out so that approximately one quarter inch ($\frac{1}{4}$ "') of water was permitted to accumulate in a pool and freeze solid. This area is distinctly shown in Exhibits 1 and 3 [also TR-93]. The photographs illustrate that a hazardous area of ice existed and had previously been approximately one foot larger in diameter than that actually shown in the photographs. The ice and water had been permitted to stand for considerable time and water marks showed that the area had decreased approximately one foot all the way around through evaporation. All of which indicated that the patch of ice had been permitted to exist for a substantial period of time. The premises were defective in that the accident area

was pitted, flaked, and chipped. Broken neon lights left the area totally dark and concealed a large, heavily iced area which obviously had existed over a long period of time. Such conditions had existed over such a long period of time that Safeway could not avoid knowledge of its presence or their duty to remove or repair such conditions. Safeway failed to keep their premises in good state of repair. The store owners failed to remove a dangerous condition, existing for a long period of time, that in the exercise of ordinary care, they should have known of its existence, realized its potential danger and taken action to remedy same.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

The Trial Court erred in directing a verdict against the Plaintiff since there was overwhelming evidence that Safeway created the dangerous conditions which existed at their store in Midvale, in that:

A. The Defendant permitted and tolerated defective lights. Safeway failed to inspect their lights for a long period of time when a casual daytime glance would have revealed that the defective lighting condition would be hazardous and dangerous at night.

B The sidewalk in the area of the fall was of faulty construction and faulty upkeep. Safeway permitted the area to become so dished out, flaked and pitted that it would hold one-quarter inch ($\frac{1}{4}$ "') or more of water which would freeze and become a solid patch of ice. This patch of ice was permitted to stand and remain frozen for exceeding long periods of time. That the ice area had existed over a considerable period of time was overwhelmingly proven by the photographs and testimony.

C. Safeway had a continuing duty to use ordinary care to keep the store entrance in a good state of repair; and the store owner is obligated to exercise ordinary care to keep the premises reasonably safe for the protection of those patronizing the store. Safeway had a duty to exercise ordinary care to see that the particular portion of the premises used by the Plaintiff was reasonably safe.

POINT II

The Safeway Store had either actual and/or constructive notice of the dangerous

condition or that the dangerous condition had existed for such period of time that in the exercise of ordinary care, the store owners should have been aware that such hazardous conditions existed and taken action to remedy it. Actual notice is only required for transitory foreign objects.

POINT III

The Court erred in not allowing the weather report, Exhibit P-4, in evidence to show the weather conditions from January 10 to January 13, 1975.

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF. [TR-299]

Directed verdicts are carefully reviewed by the appellate courts and the plaintiff Martin, is given the benefit of her entitlement to favorable aspects of the evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom. On this type of a verdict, the evidence is reviewed and studied in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. If the evidence is such that reasonable men could differ after presuming that plaintiff's evidence is true, the matter should be submitted to the jury. See Section 10, Article 1, Constitution of Utah; *Finlayson v. Brady*, 121 Utah 204; Rules 38 and 39 U.R.C.P.; *Hindmaster v. O. P. Skaggs Foodliner*, 21 Utah 2d. 413; 446 P.2d 410; *Holland v. Brown*, 15 Utah 2d. 422; 394 P.2d 77.

POINT II

SAFeway HAD ACTUAL AND/OR CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF DANGEROUS CONDITION. WHERE SAFeway CREATED THE HAZARDOUS CONDITION AND/OR PERMITTED THE SAME TO EXIST, THERE IS NO NECESSITY TO PROVE ACTUAL NOTICE.

It should be borne in mind that this accident happened in a dark walkway where a shopper was required to go. Safeway had permitted the neon lighting to so deteriorate that the tubes hung broken from the canopy (see Exhibits, TR-43). Johnson, The manager of the store, had never seen the lights working. [TR-49, TR-50]. Customer Gomez testified that the lights were broken. [TR-50].

There were defects in the store approach itself. It was improperly constructed and had become so deteriorated that one-quarter inch (1/4") of water was permitted to accumulate

and freeze over a large area. The sidewalk was flaked, chipped and “dished out” permitting ice to form. Such conditions give rise to a jury question as to whether or not Safeway exercised reasonable care to find and correct known defects and hazardous conditions. See *DeeWeese v J. C. Penney Company*, 5 Utah 2d. 116, 297 P.2d 898. See also, Exhibits 1 and 3, [TR-64], [TR65], [TR-70], Exhibits 25-28, inclusive; *Erickson v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, 120 Utah 31; 232 P.2d 210. Plaintiff’s evidence conclusively shows that the dangerous and hazardous condition had existed over a long period of time, even though Safeway had a strong duty to keep the premises reasonably safe and should have remedied same.

With regard to the length of time the ice area existed, the Court’s attention is directed to the testimony of the store manager, Johnson, who swore under oath:

“The walk was cleared Friday, January 10, 1975; snow fell intermittently, the walk was cleared several times that day. It was also salted. The parking lot was plowed by Lindon Olson on the morning of January 11, 1975. The walkway was dry on January 11, 12, and 13.”

The evidence is clear that there had been no snow fall for three (3) days. The ice area, of necessity, must have existed over a *three day period!* This shows conclusively, a failure to inspect; and, that Safeway not only created the condition then and there existing, but also, permitted the same to exist for three (3) days. Under these facts as proven, the basic rules impose liability for this grievous injury since there was reasonable evidence that Safeway knew or should have known of the defect and remedied it. Plaintiff also proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the condition or defect was created by Safeway, its agents and its employees; therefore, proof of actual notice was not required.

Hudson, Safeway’s employee, testified that he walked by the hazard twenty or thirty times on the night Mrs. Martin fell and, at no time, did he see the ice area. [TR-185-187] Since the iced area existed during the twenty or thirty inspections, he *should have seen* the dangerous condition. Safeway owed their business guests a high degree of care to see that the store entrance was reasonably safe. This includes a duty to inspect; a duty to watch and discover dangerous conditions; and, a duty not to create dangerous conditions or to permit such conditions to continue to exist. There is a continuing duty to keep premises in good repair. Actual notice is only necessary when transitory objects are involved; even then, when

the dangerous condition exists for a period of time, the Court concludes that constructive notice has been given and that the store owner should have known of it and remedied same.

Notice of defective lights must be conceded. [TR-43] Notice of dishing out”, flaking, and chipping of the cement at the entrance to the store cannot be denied [TR-66]. Certainly, permitting water to form a pool and to freeze over a three day period so that it became a part of the entrance itself, completely distinguishes this case from the transitory foreign object cases. See, *Owen v. Kroger Company*, 238 Ark. 413; 382 SW.2d 192 (1964); *Surface v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 166 Fed. 2d 927; *DeeWeese v. J. C. Penney*, (supra); *Erickson v. Walgreen*, (supra); *Hindmark v. O. P. Skaggs*, 21 Utah 2d 413; 466 P.2d 410. Frequent salting of this area both before and after the plaintiff fell, showed a knowledge and a notice that the dangerous condition existed. This is not a “grape” case, nor is it a “pebble” or a “spilt water” case. This is a care of known neglect, i.e., faulty lights, eroded cement, pooling and freezing of water; all caused by the failure to keep the premises in good state of repair. This Court has always held that if the store owner created the hazardous condition or permitted it to exist over a period of time, there is no necessity to prove notice. See *Campbell v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 15 Utah 2d 113; 388 P.2d 409; *DeeWeese v. J. C. Penney*, (supra.).

When an employee fails to properly clean an entrance or does a poor job of removing the snow and ice from the sidewalk approach to a store or business, actual notice is presumed in that the store owner actually created the hazard and/or permitted it to exist, solid ice is not a loose object. Safeway knew that water would accumulate and freeze in eroded, “dished out”, defective cement. Mrs. Martin’s fall occurred at a defective, permanent part of the entrance to this store where the pooling and freezing of water was tolerated over a long period of time. Snow was removed three (3) days prior to Mrs. Martin’s fall [TR-254]. Certainly Safeway knew or, in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the hazardous condition and had reasonable opportunity and a duty to remedy the condition but failed to do so. This matter being amply proved, should be submitted to a jury. See *Rhodes v. El Rancho Markets*, 4 Arizona App. 183; 418 P.2d 613; *El Grande Market No. 2*; 13 Arizona 302; 475 P.2d. 961; *Mahoney v. J. C. Penney*, 71 N.M. 244; 377 P.2d 663.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE “EXHIBIT 4-P”, THE UNITED STATES WEATHER BUREAU REPORT COMPILED AT THE SALT LAKE CITY AIRPORT. IT ACCURATELY SHOWED THE WEATHER FOR SALT LAKE COUNTY AREA FOR THE MONTH OF JANUARY, 1975, AND MORE PARTICULARLY, FOR THE DAYS IN QUESTION.

This weather report was extremely material to the Plaintiff’s case in proving that the store manager, Johnson, told the truth in his interrogatories [TR-254], to-wit:

Snow fell Friday, January 10, 1975; walk was cleared several times that day. It was also salted. The last time being approximately 3:00 to 4:00 p.m. on that day. The parking lot was plowed by Lindon Olson on the morning of January 11, 1975. The walkway was clean and dry on January 11, 12 , and 13.’’

The weather report would show “no snow” on January 11, 12, and 13, 1975. This weather report would have also revealed that Martinez was not truthful when he testified that he cleaned snow off of the walkway on January 13, 1975 [TR-168]. The weather report would show that the store manager, Johnson, varied the truth (on page 28 of the transcript when he testified that it snowed on January 13, 1975, all counter to his sworn interrogatories [TR-254] and, the weather report would have substantiated the Plaintiff’s allegation that the ice was permitted to remain at the entrance to the store for approximately three (3) days. The Plaintiff should have been given the right and the privilege to prove these important facts.

A United States Weather Report is a public record and, as such, is admissible to show weather conditions. See *United States v. Meyer*, 113 F.2d, 387; 311 U.S. 706; 61 Sup. Ct. 174; 85 L.Ed. 459. Weather reports are prepared by public officials pursuant to a duty imposed by law and, as such, are admissible to show weather conditions. See *Ballhorst v. Hahner-Forman Cale, Inc.* (1972) 207 Kansas 89; 484 P.2d 38, (43-44), where a United States Weather Bureau Report was admitted to show evidence of wind direction and velocity in a personal injury case. See also, *DeeWeese v J. C. Penney*, (supra), 5 Utah 2d. 116 (at page 122) where this Court said, “The official weather report admitted into evidence. . . .**” The Court not only admitted said report into evidence, but also relied upon same in arriving at its decision. Our own Utah codified Rules of Evidence give express recognition to the rule