Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs

2000

Ernestina Martin v. Safeway Stores Incorporated: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a suit for personal injury sustained as a result of a slip and fall on a spot of ice on a sidewalk outside a Safeway grocery store.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor,
District Court Judge of the Third Judicial District. At
the conclusion of all the evidence the trial court directed
a verdict of no cause of action.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of the trial court's decision.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff/Appellant's statement of facts is inaccurate in several respects.

It is uncontroverted that on January 13, 1975 plaintiff fell and was injured outside a grocery store owned by Safeway Stores, Incorporated (hereinafter "Safeway").

It had been snowing intermittently throughout the day. (R. 27-28; 81; 186). Safeway employees had cleaned and salted the sidewalk at 2;00 P.M. and again at 5;00 P.M. (R. 82; 85; 168). The Safeway employees kept the sidewalk as clean as possible so as to avoid water being tracked in that would later have to be mopped. (R. 168-169).

Between 5:00 P.M. and the time that plaintiff fell,
Bruce Hudson, a Safeway courtesy clerk carrying groceries
out of the store for customers, walked over the area where
the plaintiff fell some twenty to thirty times. He did not
observe it to be slippery or icy, although it was wet.

(R. 185).

The evidence at trial was conflicting as to exactly where the plaintiff fell, but the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff indicates that the ice formed on a spot in the sidewalk where there was slight "spalling" or flaking of the concrete. There had been no

previous problem of ice or water collecting at this particular spot. (R. 155).

The Safeway manager did testify that he has occasionally seen water or snow dropped onto the sidewalk by cars which were parked with their hoods protruding slightly over the edge of the walkway. (R. 157).

At one time neon lights were installed in connection with the canopy which extended across the store front and the Safeway sign. (R. 153). These lights had been inoperable for several years prior to the accident. (R. 43). There is no evidence that these lights were needed for adequate lighting, however. There were two parking lights in the immediate area of the accident which were working the night of the accident. (R. 151; 185).

After plaintiff fell the area was examined by the plaintiff's husband; Mr. Ruben C. Martinez, a Safeway employee; and Mrs. Julaine Gomez, a customer. They found a thin transparent spot of ice about twelve inches by fourteen inches. (R. 61, 172).

Either the next morning or the following morning the plaintiff's husband returned with a photographer who took photographs of the spot where the "spalling" was. (Ex. 1 and 3). However, the condition was not the same as when

plaintiff fell because no ice was present. In fact, the place where plaintiff fell could not be located with certainty. (R. 91). Although plaintiff's expert testified that in his opinion the photograph showed salt marks which indicated a "high water line", he admitted that he had no way of knowing whether the line was left there as a result of the ice which caused plaintiff's fall, or on some prior occasion. (R. 75).

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

PLAINTIFF PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE TO SHOW HOW LONG THE ICE HAD EXISTED.

Contrary to the assertions in plaintiff's brief, absolutely no evidence was presented to the trial court tending to prove when the transparent ice formed on the walkway.

All of the evidence admitted at the trial indicated that the day of the accident, January 13, 1975, was a stormy day.

Mr. Johnson, the manager of the Safeway store testified:

- Q. (by Mr. Miner) And now the -- do you recall what the weather was on the 13th day of January 1975?
- A. To my recollection it was a stormy day. (R. 27-28).

Mr. Martinez, Safeway's Inventory Control Clerk, testified:

- Q. (by Mr. Miner) Now, what was the weather when you went to work? Was it clear or snowy or what was the weather?
- A. It was snowy, slushy. (R. 81).

Mr. Bruce Hudson, Safeway's courtesy clerk, said that when he went to work at 5:00 P.M. the walk was being cleaned. He testified as follows:

- Q. (by Mr. Miner) Did I understand that when you went to work that somebody was shoveling snow?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Out in front of the store?
- A. Yes. (R. 186).

This testimony is uncontroverted. The evidence at trial established that the employees of defendant shoveled the walk-way twice during the afternoon; once at 2:00 P.M. and again at 5:00 P.M. The walk was salted on each occasion. (R. 89). Thereafter the walkway was wet but not icy. One of the Safe-way employees took special precautions to see that the walk was properly cleaned because he wished to prevent customers from tracking snow or slush into the store, since he had the responsibility of mopping the store after closing, the evening of the accident. (R. 169).

Plaintiff's husband testified that the ice was clear and was the same color as the sidewalk and could not be seen. (R. 61). Bruce Hudson testified that he had walked

past the area of the accident some twenty to thirty times that evening and had not observed the presence of any ice. (R. 185). Nor had any customers complained of the ice. (R. 186).

Plaintiff presented no evidence to show the temperature, or when freezing could have occurred. Further, the walkway had been twice salted a few hours earlier, and undoubtedly the presence of salt would have prevented freezing at the usual freezing temperature. There was no evidence that weather conditions were such that the precautions taken by the defendant's employees were not reasonable under the circumstances.

No evidence was presented to account for the presence of ice on the sidewalk. It may be that water from melting snow from the hood of a car dropped onto the sidewalk and froze minutes before the accident. In fact, plaintiff's husband testified that plaintiff fell directly in front of his car, which protruded slightly over the walkway. (R. 581). Mr. Johnson, the store manager, testified that he has occasionally seen cars drip water on the sidewalk when the warmth of the engine caused snow on the hood of the car to melt. (R. 156-157). It is significant to note that the icy spot was only twelve inches by fourteen inches in area. The entire surface of the walkway was not icy as would have been the case had the condition causing the formation of the ice been

general in nature. Further, the area of the walkway where the spalling occurred is much larger than the isolated spot of ice described by witnesses.

A thorough examination of the record will show that there is absolutely no credible evidence as to how long the ice had existed prior to the accident, or to account for the presence of the ice.

POINT TWO

A LANDOWNER IS NOT LIABLE FOR A FALL ON ICE OR SNOW UNLESS HE FAILS TO MAKE IT REASONABLY SAFE WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME AFTER THE STORM CEASES.

This Court expressed itself clearly on this issue in Schofield v. Kinzell, 29 Utah2d 427, 511 P.2d 149 (1973). In that case the plaintiff was injured as she walked across a snowy parking lot. This court held:

The landlord is not a quarantor for the safety of his tenants as they proceed along the common ways. An accumulation of ice or snow upon those portions of the premises reserved for the common use of his tenants may make the landlord liable for injuries sustained by his tenant which are due to such an accumulation, provided the landlord knows, or should have known of the condition and failed to act within a reasonable time thereafter to protect against injuries caused thereby. The mere accumulation of snow or ice does not ipso facto make the landlord liable, he must be given a reasonable time after the storm has ceased to remove the accumulations or to take such measures as will make

the common areas reasonably safe from those conditions which pose an unreasonable risk of harm to the user. (Emphasis added).

29 Utah 2d at 431, 511 P.2d at 151.

Plaintiff relies upon <u>DeWeese v. J.C. Penny Co.</u>, 5

Utah 2d 116, 297 P.2d 898 (1956) as authority for the proposition that the issue of negligence should have gone to the jury. The situation in <u>DeWeese</u>, however, differs from this case in one crucial respect: in <u>DeWeese</u> there was evidence that the storm and dangerous condition had existed for some time and no remedial effort was undertaken, whereas here, there is <u>no evidence</u> as to how long the ice had been on the sidewalk, and reasonable efforts, through cleaning and salting had been previously and timely undertaken.

In <u>DeWeese</u>, plaintiff slipped and fell on a wet terrazzo floor. The evidence showed that terrazzo was slippery
when wet and it is customary for store owners with terrazzo
entrances to use rubber mats during storms. The evidence
taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff also
indicated that the storm began 25 to 30 minutes before the
accident.

Like <u>DeWeese</u>, this case involves a permanent condition on the walk: spalling in the concrete. Indeed, there is scarcely a walkway in the state of Utah that does not have some spalling present. No reasonable mind could conclude

There was no evidence that this area became icy during previous storms. In fact, the only evidence was that water and ice had not accumulated at this spot previously. (R. 155).

Unlike <u>DeWeese</u>, in this case there is <u>no</u> evidence as to how long the ice had been present on the sidewalk. In <u>DeWeese</u>, the plaintiff testified that it had snowed from 25 to 30 minutes prior to the accident. In this case, none of the witnesses testified as to how long the ice was present. Nor was evidence presented to account for its presence. In fact, the testimony of defendant's witnesses was uncontroverted in establishing that the walkway had been twice cleared of slush and snow during the afternoon and salted on each occasion. Although it remained wet, a condition which could not be prevented, defendant's employees did take such measures as necessary to make the walkway reasonably safe.

POINT THREE

THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT SAFE-WAY EXERCISED REASONABLE CARE IN SNOW REMOVAL.

The undisputed evidence indicates that the snow was removed from in front of the Safeway store on two occasions during the afternoon of January 13, 1975. Mr. Martinez came to work at

2:00 P.M. on that day. The first thing he did upon arriving was clean the sidewalk. (R. 82). The sidewalk was also salted at that time. (R. 168).

At 5:00 P.M., he again reswept the snow and salted the sidewalk. (R. 85, 168).

Bruce Hudson, the courtesy clerk, passed the spot where the small patch of ice was later found on twenty to thirty occasions between 5:00 P.M. and the time when the plaintiff fell. (R. 185). He did not see the ice on any of those occasions.

Plaintiff's claim that this is evidence of negligence in that he should have seen the ice, ignores the fact that there is absolutely no evidence that the ice was on the sidewalk for any length of time before the plaintiff fell.

Further, plaintiff's husband testified that the patch of ice was clear and blended in with the color of the cement. (R. 61); all the other witnesses concurred in this observation. (R. 137; 171; 100).

POINT FOUR

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE BROKEN NEON LIGHTS CONTRIBUTED TO THE ACCIDENT.

It is undisputed that near the walkway there were some broken neon lights. These lights had been inoperable for several years. (R. 43). There is no evidence, however,

that the absence of these lights contributed in any way to the accident.

The evidence is undisputed that there were other lights in the parking lot, (R. 151) and that they were on the night of the accident. (R. 185).

There is no evidence that the broken neon lights were for any purpose other than decorative.

POINT FIVE

PLAINTIFF'S "EXHIBIT 4-P" WAS PROPERLY REJECTED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Plaintiff submitted a weather report, showing weather conditions at the Salt Lake City Airport in January of 1975.

The trial court rejected the exhibit, not because weather reports are per se inadmissible, but because the weather at the Salt Lake City Airport is immaterial to prove the weather in Midvale, Utah, some 20 miles away.

This court held in <u>DeWeese v. J.C. Penny Co.</u>, 5 Utah2d 116, 297 P.2d 898 (1956):

It is recognized that in this mountain valley storms are sometimes spotty and irregular as to time and place of starting, duration and amount of precipitation.

5 Utah2d at 122, 297 P.2d at 902.

The law is clear that in matters of determining materiality the trial court should be accorded a large measure

of discretion and should only be reversed if this discretion is abused. Throop v. F.E. Young & Co., 94 Ariz. 146, 382

P.2d 560 (1963); Tucker v. Lower, 200 Kan. 1, 434 P.2d 320

(1967); Gunderson v. Brewster, 154 Mont. 405, 466 P.2d 589

(1970); Carter v. Moberly, 263 Cr. 193, 501 P.2d 1276 (1972).

The Utah Rules of Evidence provide:

- Rule 45. [T]he judge may in his discretion exclude evidence if he finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk that its admission will . . .
 - (b) create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of confusing the issues or of misleading the jury.

The weather report offered as Exhibit "4-P" had very little, if any probative value; it created a substantial risk of confusing the issues. The judge did not abuse his discretion in excluding it.

If plaintiff's attorney felt that it was necessary to prove what the weather was on January 13, 1973, he should have done so by the most direct means: by questioning the persons who were present on the day of the accident.

CONCLUSION

The mountain valleys of the state of Utah contain hundreds of miles of concrete sidewalks in varying states of repair. Each winter these sidewalks are subjected to a

constantly recurring cycle of snow, melting, freezing, thawing and refreezing. It is virtually impossible to construct a sidewalk where ice cannot accumulate.

This court has wisely determined that property owners cannot be insurers of the safety of those who come on their property. They should only be held liable for injuries caused by ice or snow where it has existed for a long enough time that the property owners should have known about it and corrected it.

Here the plaintiff failed to produce any evidence to show that the danger had existed for any substantial time before the accident. Had the trial court permitted these issues to go to the jury, any verdict for plaintiff would have been required to be based upon speculation and not upon the evidence. The trial court exercised its proper supervisory powers in determining as a matter of law that reasonable minds could not differ in finding that the defendant's employees met their duty under the circumstances in making the walkway reasonably safe for those risks which could have been observed or anticipated. The trial

court rightly directed a verdict of no cause of action.